THE DEVELOPMENT OF CLEVELAND'S RADIO INDUSTRY

bу

Ronald Kramer English 102M

Berea, Ohio May 15, 1963

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Pre	f	8	O	0	*				*		4	9		-			*			*	•	*		*					•	•	1
Te	ct							#	ė														1	P (1
App	(0)	10	1	X	1			1		1							*	•	*	-	1	1	1					•	*		
Bib	1	LO	6	T	1]	ľ	1)	-	1				*	*	*				-		1		B 4		•		*				1

There appears to be a significant error in this work. My interview of Mr. Knowlton, related to WJAX, was attributed to William Knowlton. It appears that the correct first name was Donald. Donald Knowlton was advertising manager of the Union Trust which was a client of a PR firm. When the bank failed in the early 1930s, Knowlton teamed up with John Hill to form the powerful firm Hill and Knowlton which was headquartered in Cleveland. When Hill moved the company's central offices to New York, Knowlton remained in the firm's Cleveland offices.

PREFACE

After an exhaustive pearch of Cleveland's annals pertaining to the development of her radio industry, I ultimately found that, in greeral, detailed information concerning the pioneers of the radio industry in their area, simply wasn't available, and I was therefore forced to resort to personal interviews. The production of this survey would have been entirely impossible without the time, and effort, generously expended by those people credited in the bibliography. The many conflicting facts concerning early stations, and the general chaos that reigned in the industry at that time, would make a reasonably accurate history of these stations a literal impossibility without their aid in unraveling the contradicting accounts. In particular, my sincere thanks go to Richard D. Webner, whose guidance secured for me the interviews to which I fofor.

Ronald Kramer

May 15, 1963

THE DEVELOPMENT OF CLEVELAND'S

RADIO_INDUSTRY

The transmission of impulses, and later voice, by radio waves was practiced as early as the turn of the century, on an almost entirelh amateur, and very crude, basis, with little or no thought of commercialization. Cleveland's initial acquaintance with radio was therefore, much the same as that of most other areas of the nation; prior to the year 1921 she had within her confines a small, but dedicated group of what we now call "hams", interested in the transmission of almost anything over the air, with little, or no, governmental control.

Needless to say, such a system of radio broadcasting, characterized by such loose form, in short time managed to create general havoc in the ether, by virtue of its total lack of coordination.

It was in such an atmosphere that Cleveland's first true broadcaster commenced operations on July 26, 1921.

Warren Cox, one of the growing number of Cleveland's "hams", set up a station, WSACS, on a frequency of 1500 kcs., 200 meters, at his factory where he manufactured automobiles,

at 3138 Payne Avenue. Cox was, at that time, a member of the Cleveland Radio Association, which offered the total amount of local coordination available to city at that time, and which, ultimately, became the sponsor of a system by which various concerts, and lectures, were broadcast to the city once a night, a different member station carrying a different event each evening.

Cox's effort is considered the first station in the city, although at that time he was licensed only as an amateur, as were all the other operators in Cleveland. His distinction, however, lies in the fact that his operation ultimately evolved into WHK, and of even more importance, he broadcast features over the air that he felt were of interest to the general public-a type of programming that set him aside from the other broadcasters in the city.

Under similar circumstances the city's next major broad-caster, W8CJS, was founded in 1922. Operated by S. Eddie Leonard, an employee of Cleveland's Willard Battery Company, this station was the forerunner of WTAM, and lays claim to the nation's first battery powered radio station. Transmission at this time was accomplished with crude spark gap transmitters, which needed approximately 500 volts to polarize the plates of the tubes; this value, was far too

^{1.} Rose, William G., Cleveland, The Making of a City, Cleveland, 1950, p. 805.

² Mount, Harry A., Cleveland Plain Dealer, 10/10/26, np.

high to be obtained from the conventional dry batteries, and operation of radio equipment off house current did not become generally accepted until the late twenties; thus, faced with a lack of a power source, resourceful broadcasters used generators which usually made a distributoring amount of noise over the air. Thus, the development of battery units for such power proved a great boon to the industry.

Varoous reports are available; most sources give W8GJS credit for this initial entry into battery power. Leonard's employer, owner of the Willard Battery Company, was both interested in radio, and able to supply the necessary units; thus, his claim is usually accredited.

A different story is obtained from KYW engineer, Howard Spiller, who told me in a telephone conversation, of his father's station, WSACR; according to Mr. Spiller, WSACR originally operated off the same motor generator system that all other hams employed, until one day Willard paid his father a visit; after suggesting battery pawer, and being told that such a battery pack wasn't available, Willard left without further comment on his proposal. Some time later a large truck delivered 20 cases, containing battery cells sufficient to produce the 500 volt plate voltage, and the evening of their installation WSACR was

^{3 1}b1d., np.

heard in Alaska. This, according to Mr. Spiller, was the nation's first battery powered radio station. 4

In any event, it was with Cleveland's radio scene in this generally chaotic condition, with about 1000 radio receivers in the city late in 1921, that the Department of Commerce, which at that time was responsible for Federal control of the airwaves, ordered all amateur operators to cease operation, in an effort to coordinate frequencies, time of operations, specify general types of pergramming, and dictate the confines of an amateur license. In such a situation, Warren Cox moves WSACX to 5105 Euclid Avenue, where he built a new transmitter, using two 50 watt tubes, and awaited the government's next action. His answer came on Fecruary 21, 1922 when he received a license to operate station WHK on a frequency of 830 kcs., (360 meters), 6 the first station in the nation to receive a Federal license.

Fall of 1921 also saw the formation of the city's second radio station, WJAX, according to its general manager, William Knowlton. Originally the station was placed on the

⁴ Telephone conversation with Howard Spiller, 5/7/63,

⁵ Condon, George, Cleveland Plain Dealer, March 3, 1957, np.

⁶ Van Metre, Maurice, <u>Cleveland News</u>, March 4, 1957, np. 7 <u>Cleveland Plain Dealer</u>, February 10, 1951, np.

air by its owner, the Union Trust Bank, to broadcast to the downtown banks the latest results on the stock market for a period of one hour each noon; not long after its inception, Mr. Knowlton was appointed its manager, with little restrictions on programming. Soon WJAX's schedule found the 750 kc. frequency broadcasting banjo and jazz band music on a once-a-night basis, with Mr. Knowlton on the banjo.8

Other information obtained from Mr. Knowlton, though not directly related to WJAX's chronology, sheds an intersesting light upon the radio industry of the early twenties. WJAX can claim the distinction of being the first radio station in the nation to air Guy Lombardo and his Royal Canadians; Mr. Knowlton, after auditioning the band, agreed to air them, every other Saturday night, live from the Fort Louis night club-on condition that Lombardo pay the cost of the remote telephone lines for the broadcast; and thus, every other Saturday night, for quite some time, WJAX transported their remote control panel to the Fort Louis, and Mr. Lombardo payed \$15 for the privilege of broadcasting his band. 9

Also gleaned from my sonversation with Mr. Knowlton are these other bits of interesting nostalgia. Once, when called to a conference on radio in Washington, at which the Secre-

⁸ Telephone conversation with William Knowlton, 5/7/63, 1:45 pm.

⁹ ibid.

tary of Commerce, Herbert Hoover, presided; (prior to the Federal Radio Commission, the governing of radio broadcasting was entrusted to the Department of Commerce); Mr. Knowlton was appalled, as were the other delegates, when Hoover suggested rather mildly that it was almost time for the government to assume dontrol in a more strict sense, of the radio communications media. Aghast at this picture of "government encroachment upon free enterprise" the convention broke up into ten-man committees. Of the ten men on his committee, nine were entirely against governmental control of broadcasting-however, one young man, just recently involved in the industry, insisted that such control was necessary, justified, desireable, and inevitable, if radio were to flourish. The committee thought him mad-but as time would tell that young man, David Sarnoff, had an important role to play in the national development of radio. 10

Also recalled with a certain streak of humor, is the time that a spprano, while at the mike in the middle of a song, stepped and screamed so loudly into the microphone that she caused the casing to rattle, after which she calm-ly went on with her song. Later, a very curious Mr. Knowlton after inquiring, was duly informed by the diva that she "wanted her sister in Texas" to hear her. 11

Meanwhile, WJAX and W8CJR were sharing time on a fre-

^{10 1}bid.,

¹¹ ibid.

quency of 750 kcs., with rather flexible schedules, which usually called for one to operate during the day, and the other in the latter portion of the evening.

Early in 1924 W8CJR became W8XG, still owned by the Willard people, and still run by Eddie Leonard, and it was not until late that year that the station assumed the more conventional four letter call of a commercial broadcaster WTAM, a name that would soon become nationally famous.

WTAM operated on 750 kcs. as did its predecessors, utilizing 5000 battery cells, (placing a total voltage of 10,000 bc volts on the transmitter tube plates), housed on shelves 55 feet in length. In the words of Mr. Leonard, it was "probably the biggest (battery) ever built." At that time WTAM operated with a power of 1.5 kilowatts, making it the most powerful radio voice in the United States. Originally, it broadcast night programs three hours in length, (WJAX was on the same frequency during the day), but it later expanded its schedule considerably as we shall see. 13

1924 also saw the entry of a new radio voice onto the Cleveland radio scene. On May 15 of that year, a linense was granted to Stanley J. Broz of M. F. Broz Furniture, Hardware and Radio Store, to operate radio station WDBK on a frequency of 1320 kcs. with a power output of 100 watts, at

¹² Condon, George, GlevelandMPlain Dealer, Gctober 21,

¹³ Cleveland Press, February 10, 1938, np.

his store located at 13918 Union Avenue. 4 WDBK had a rather short history on the Cleveland radio scene, as we shall see later, and is little remembered in the minds of Cleveland's radio listeners; its low power output undoubtably precluded certain areas of the city from receiving the station, which may account for the lack of recognition of this early member of the Cleveland broadcast community.

By this time Warren Cox had found his old headquarters on Payne had grown far too small for the ever-expanding WHK, and he was compelled in 1924, to move to new quarters in Cleveland's Standard Building, during this same year WHK changed its frequency from 830 kcs. to 1030 kcs., presumably at the time of the change of the studio location; this, however, is an assumption, since no records are available on this particular subject. Padio was an expanding business, and expand it did.

On November 15, 1926 the NBC Red Network made its debut, with a rousing membership of 25 national affiliates, WTAM being one of the charter members of this original net. With such a change in programming, and with the pressure of two competing stations, WTAM found the time-sharing basis on which it operated with WEAR too restrictive, and on April 24, 1926 acquired the Goodyear property. WTAM was then 12th

¹⁴ Federal Communications Letter #8720, from Ben Waple, received May 12, 1963.
15 Cleveland Plain Dealer, January 14, 1951, np.

a power of 3500 watts, but reduced to 1000 during the merger to match WEAR. AsS. E. Baldwin, WTAM manager stated, "Eventually we will probably consolidate the two stations, using one transmitter and full time on the air. We have the assurances of Department of Commerce officials that...full time will be granted." The reduction in WTAM's power was effected in compliance with the National Radio Conference request that stations in large cities remain at powers of 1000 watts or less. From this time on, until 1928, WTAM assumed the call Letters WTAM-WEAR with both separate and simultaneous programming over the two stations, both still on 750 kes.

In 1925 the Union Trust Bank was becoming increasingly displeased over its involvement in the radio industry; what had originally began as a sim ple stock market quotation supply station, had evolved into a complex radio voice of the city, and WJAX was stroying too far from banking realm; furthemore, the commercial aspects of WJAX had an irritating affect on some of the bank; s cumtomers, and thus, in 1925 WJAX manager Bill Emowlton sought out Lucien King of Goodyear Tire and Rubber, painting the radio industry as a highly lucrative opportunity to place the Goodyear name before the public; Mr. Knowlton's crowning selling point was the alteration of the call to WEAR, since Goodyear prided

¹⁷ Cleveland Flain Dealer, April 4, 1926, np.

itself on the longevity of its products. It wasn't difficult to persuade Goodyear to add WJAX to its chain, starting with WEAF in New York, and the station became WEAR soon thereafter, changing hands for the price of \$15,000.18

1 By 1926 the lusty Cleveland radio industry had turned into more than an interesting pasttime in which banks might indulge, and amateurs amuse themselves, for with the addition of commercial revenue, radio became a highly lucrative enter-Thus in 1926 plans were announced for the establishment of WJAY, to broadcast from atop the Hotel Hollendon, the station to be owned and operated by the ABC network. 19 Under the management of Charles Burns, WJAY took to the air on January 1, 192720 on a frequency of 688 kcs., 21 (this was still in the time when stations picked their own frequencies), however they moved quickly to 680 kcs., on April 24, 1927, when the Federal government assumed control of the regulation of broadcasting frequencies. 22 In June of the same year, when frequency allocations were given to all stations, WJAY received 1320 kcs., the same frequency occupied by WDBKwhich created problems. 23

ibid., np. 18

Cleveland Plain Dealer, December 8, 1926, np. 19

Randall, Edwin T., Cleveland Plain Dealer, September 19, 20

Kintner, Robert, Cleveland Flain Dealer, January 27, 21 1928, np.

Cleveland Plain Dealer, April 24, 1926, np. Letter from the Federal Communications Commission 23 #8720, received May 12, 1963

During the frequency allocations WDBK had been busily consulting with the Department of Commerce; on June 1, 1927 it received permission of increase its power to 250 watts, still on 1320 kcs.; (the Department was blissfully ignoring the fact that it had assigned WJAY the same frequency.) stations involved were painfully aware of the discrepancy and a confused Cleveland watched the two stations shake their heads in dismay. Finally, on June 27, 1927 the Department of Commerce ordered WDBM to share time with WJAY and the fermer requested permission to leave the city, which it received on July 21,25 Thus WDBK moved, shortly theresiter, to Akron as a property of the Akron Beacon Journal, as station WFJC, still on 1320 kcs., and still posing a frequency conflict with WWAY.26 For a time the two stations shared time, and later, after the new frequency allocations of 1928, the problem was alleviated.

In the latter part of 1926 world leaked out from Washington that the Department of Commerce was fast finding that
there were more requests for stations than the frequency
bands could physically accommodate—ant there ensued a melee
in which everyone desiring a permit immediately applied, in
the hope of "getting in under the wire" before the thenexpected "freeze" on permits went into effect. (It may be

²⁴ op. cit. FCC Letter #8720

²⁶ op. cit., Mintner, January 27, 1928, np.

quite reasonably assumed that this, at least in ar, prompted the founding of WJAY.) Thus, on December 11, 1925 Henry Grossmen, former general manager of WTK, a commercial radio-telephone station owned by Intercity Radio, and located on the Hotel Cleveland, announced his intention to found WHG, which according to my sources, never became airborne. Proposed plans for WHG called for ownership by the Eastern Broadcasting Corporation, a subsidiary of Doller Dry Cleaning Company, of New York.27

In August of 1927 a dispute arose over the legality of one aspect of radio's programming, when Attenney General Edward C. Turner of the state of Onio ruled that it was illegal for Cleveland's City Council to pay for the live broadcast of concerts from the Public Auditorium, and it was not until the Law Director of the City, Carl F. Shuler and Lincoln Dickey, manager of the Hall, went to Columbus and convinced the Attorney General that the publicity derived for the hall from such broadcasts resulted in increased revenue for the Hall, that these broadcasts, one of Cleveland's broadcasting cultural highlight of the time, were allowed to resume.²³

At this time, while Cleveland was enjoying a period of extreme activity and prosperity in the radio industry, cer-

²⁷ Gleveland Plain Dealer, December 11, 1926, np. 28 Gleveland Plain Dealer, September 2, 1927, np.

tain governmental agencies in War nington were slowly, but surely, growing aghast at the monster they had created in the person of the radio industry. Without the close policing of frequencies now in effect, the stations, allowed to select their own frequencies, had often encountered both a shortage of frequencies, and a serious problem of interference with other stations who operated un similar frequencies. order to add some measure of sanity to the confusion, in April of 1927 the new allocations were given out throughout the nation; in Cleveland WTAM-WHAR was moved to 389.4 meters. (770 kcs.), with WTAN allowed to move up to 5000 watts, while WEAR remained at 1 KW. WIDBK was allowed to move up to 500 watts, on 1320 kcs., while WHK, after boosting from 500 to 1000 watts, was assigned 1000 kcs. (272.66 meters). 29 For some unexplained reason, however, at the last possible moment WJAY moved to 1450 kcs. rather than to the 1320 kcs. that had been previously announced. 30 Obviously done with Federal sanction, I wouldsurmise that this was the Federal Radio Commission's answer to the problem of WDBK remaining on 1320 kes.

The same growing pains that had caused WHK to move to larger headquarters in 1924 forced WTAM-WEAR to seek additional space for its combined operation. The original WTAM studios,

²⁹ Cleveland Plain Dealer, April 26, 1927, np.
30 Kintner, Robert, Cleveland Plain Dealer, November 12, 1928, np.

located on the twentieth floor of the Union Trust Building, were retained to house the transmitters and battery power supplies, nowever, two new studies were constructed on the fourth floor of the building's annex, on Chester Avenue. The new facilities afforded the station 4,800 square feet of floor space, and boasted the newest facilities: including Celetax, the newest acoustic padding, on all studio walls; warning lights over each studio tell any potential intruders whether a "live" mike was in that studio-new a standard feature of any station-first made their appearance in the area at that time. 31 The move was made in the summer, and all went well at WTAM-WEAR for some months thereafter. From December 1, 1927 on they were on an exclusive wave. (there was no other station broadcasting on their frequency in the entire country), now on a frequency of 750 kcs., once again; however, on the tenth of December WTAM was ordered to share time with WBBT in South Bend, Indiana. This necessitated a complex schedule which I reproduce here to give the reader a general ideal of radio programming in the latter twenties. The most immediate effect of the change was feltthat Saturday night, wheniin lieu of the mormal midnight sign off, WTAM was forced to close down at 11pm, wiin the Wandering Minstrels down the

³¹ Cleveland Plain Dealer, May 29, 1927, np.

Mississippi; the Tribune station in South Bend then signed on, at 10:00 CST (11:00 EST), for a period of two hours. 32 During the following Times WTAM would, by agreement with WSBT, "stand-by" to allow the Indiana station to transmit: 33

 Sunday
 8 to 9 pm; alternate weeks

 Monday
 7 to 8 pm; 10:30 to 11:30

 Tuesday
 7 to 8 pm;

 Wednesday
 7 to 7:30 pm;

 Thursday
 7 to 8 pm; 11-12 pm

 Friday
 7:30 to 8 pm; 11-12 pm

 Saturday
 11-12 pm

Both stations could broadcast during the day "on the assumption that range will not be sufficiently great to the hetrodyning which of couse would result at night."34

In mid-December WHK announced plans for a new move, from its studios in the Standard Building, and the government, in granting the request, also granted a temporary license till February 28, 1928 on a new frequency of 1130 kcs. (263.3 meters), a 1 KW during the day, and 500 watts at night.

WTAM-WEAR made radio history again in Clevelad when they were purchased in May, 1928 by the Cleveland Effectric Illuminating Company and the Van Sweringen brothers; the new owners evinced theintention of retaining the same call letters and the same basic programming. "It is understood that the Federal Radio Commission is familiar with plans for the

³³ Kintner, Robert, Cleveland Plain Dealer, December 10, 1927, np.

³³ ibid., np.

change of ownership...and since it involes only a transfer of stock-no formal permission is required. A far cry from the detailed permission and required for transfer of a station's title.

Expression of 1929 marked a historic first, both for Cleveland, and national, radio, for on the first of that montha trans-Atlantic broadcast was attempted, and was successfully completed, the first of its type to be judged successful. Station 2LO in England transmitted to the United States on a short wave, and then the NBC Red network in New York broadcast the ten minute program, (it began at 4:50 PM Cleveland time), throughout the nation. A previous attempt on New Years Day of 1925, when staton WJZ had attempted to broadcast "Big Ben" from London, had failed due to extramely weak signals. Cleveland radio was now progressing beyond even a national scope.

Cleveland, as well as the rest of the nation, was still embroiled in the battle of frequencies-for the FRC revisions in radio allocations, first attempted in 1927, had met with only partial success. WJAY, 1450 kcs.iin Cleveland, continued to experience interference with WHK, then on 1390; thus on March 9, 1929 the Commission announced the change of WJAY's frequency to 620 kcs., at a power of 500 watts. With

³⁴ Kintner, Robert, Cleveland Plain Dealer, May 30, 1928,

³⁵ Kintner, Robert, February 2, 1929, Cleveland Plain Dealer, np.

the loss of WDSK, Cleveland's radio log then looked like this: 36

WIAY 620 hes. 500 watts
WTAM-WEAR 1070 kes. 3500 watts
TIK 1390 kes. 1 kW; (2 kW day)

Just one month later, on April 26, 1929 the FRC announced that it had quanted permission to WTAM-VEAR to enter the "big league" of broadcasters, by erecting a remote transmitter in Brocksville with a power output of 50 kW.

At that time there were only five other cities in the nation that could boast such super-gients of the airwaves, (VLW, Gircinstti; NDKA, Pittsburg: WGY Schenzetaly; WEAT, New York; WIR, Chicago); standard proceedure was followed in that the Gleveladd station was granted CS KM basic power and 25 kM coerimental, which afforded no obseque to full power output on a regular basis. The facision was not intended to affect, however, the 1999 wast WEAR, which would remain on a separate, status quo, basis. In the came action the Commission granted WIR permission to coestruct a 5 kW remote transmitter near the WTAM Procksville site.

On September 2, 1928 WHX became the first Cleveland station to enter the new CBS radio network; coverage from the national chain was inaugurated at 2:00 thatdeftermoon, and gave Cleveland its third notwork at that tipe, (WTAM carried NBC Red-ABC had moved into Cleveland with the erection of

³⁶ Gintner, Robert, <u>Cleveland Plain Dealer</u>, March 9, 1929, np.
37 <u>Cleveland Prain Dealer</u>, April 26, 1929, np.

WJAY).

The Federal Ragio Commission was still attempting the unravel the tangled problem of frequency allocations, and on October 13, 1923 word again went out from Fahington, that new allocations were to be made. Whi was given 1390 kcs., with a power of 500 watts day and night; Cox had hoped to place his station on 940 kcs. with a power of 1000 watts full-time, but the FRC contended that this frequency was not available. WIAM was the only station to 1070 kcs.

April 29, 1929 was a nostalgic day in Cleveland, for it saw the demise of one of the aution; s pioneers on the radio scene; "FAM which had for several years been maintaging both wTAM and wEAR separately, announced the cessation of operations on the Familiar 750 kes. spot on the dialand the station that had begun as a stock market reporter an nour a day, left the Cleveland radio scene. However, wTAM was busily expanding; her new transmitter was finally s selected, (it was an RCA); and was located 15% miles from Public square of downtown Cheveland; several large towers 300 feet in height, were supported by porcelain insulators, standing on concrete footings, with floodlights installed to illuminate the structures for passing aircraft. Between the towers a small building, the "tank" was situated, with

³⁸ kintner, Robert, Cleveland Plain Dealer, October 13, 1928. up.

³⁹ Cleveland Press, July 3, 1989, np.

wires running between it and the transmitter, on tall wooden poles. The four largest tubes in the world, each taller than a man, were crated, and awaited instablation-in toto, their autput capability was about 1000 KW. WTAM's transmission equipment located on the downtown site, still operated on the large batter; installation obtained from Willard years before; however, in the new system only the speech input equipment was to utilize battery power-for with the new transmitters, a generating plant was being constructed to power the massive 50 KW unit. Power and lighting gystems were constructed in duplicate, as were telephones, lines, in on effort to rugre against temperary "black outs". The RCA transmitter had a frequincy response of 3007,000 ers, or "proctically the entire audible musical range" 40 as were the telephonealines equalized for a frequency response of 30-7000 cps;41 in short, the installation represented one of the most modern standons in the country, and represented antrememdous advance in Cleveland's broadcasting status.

The grand inauguration, which included a change in frequency to 1100 kes, took place on Bovemaur 7, 1929; one hour after thenew transmission facilities were signed on the air, a telegram was received from New Orleans, describing the station's signal as "remarkably clear." 1The program

⁴⁰ Kintner, Robert, Cleveland Plain Dealer, October 6, 1929, np.

⁴¹ ibid., np.
42 Cleveland Plain Dealer, November 7, 9929, np.

open4d with some locally produced entertainment, in addition to the customary dedication speeches. Arthur Pryor's Band was on hand to contribute a strring renditionoof Sousa's Thunderer, as well as the Cleveland Orchestra, under the direction of Nikolai Sokoloff, which played Tannhauser Overture, White Reneoch by Wagner, Brahms #2 Movement. Rlue Danube, and a composition entirled New Years Eve in New York.45 At 11pm a special relay from the network, (NBC Red), in honor of WTAM's new system, was aired from New York; the program included Jessica IDragonette, soprano, the Cavaliers, and many of the nation's top orchestras, including Clevelander Phil Spitalny andhis Pennsylvania Music; James Melton, tenor and Wilfred Glenn, bass, sang, and Gustav Haenshen's forty piece band sontributed an offering. After it was all over the concensus of those who listened and attended, was one of high praise forthe new installation; the crowning success was a listening confirmation from the West Coast, where WTAM's inaugural broadcast was received on a battleship. 200 miles west of San Francisco.44

The turn of the decade saw the entry of a new set of call letters onto the Cleveland airwaves: WGAR managed to sign on on December 15, 1930, despite general copposition of

⁴³ Milde np.

⁴⁴ Cook, Arthur, Cleveland Press, November 7, 1929, np.

much of the city; backed by WJR, Detroit, the station claimed that its erection would give Cleveland the opportunity to hear the Blue Estwork of NBC-the Chamber, of Commerce, however, felt differently; it contended that Cleveland's airwaves were already sufficiently cluftered; to add a final coun de grace, the MBC networkddenied that it had ever promised the new station an affiliation. 45 The station signed on at o pm on the evening of the 15th, and at 7pm switched to the NBC Blue network, (itrhad obtained the affiliation)-but at that crucial moment when the network "feedd was cut in, suddenly the line went dead-just when all of WGAR's new listeners wre expecting to hear that never-to-beforgot, ten auo of the day, Amos 'n Andy. It was the first time in threeyyears that the network had experienced such dirficulty, for the trouble was at the NBC headquarters in New York, but at that moment, the information was of little comfort to the young station. Ultimately, the network broke through, but it was an anxious inauguration; the statem was assigned 1450 kcs., at a power of 500 watts, which it retainedfor several years. Severim months after its opening, it created somewhat of a stir by interviewing, on remote location, a genuine bootlegger, (whose identity was withheld), who waxed eloquently over the injustice of the Volstead Act,

^{45 &}lt;u>Cleveland Plain Dealer</u>, September 26, 1930, np.

and the other Federal restrictions that hampered his livinhood. No mean feat for a newcommer, insuragedoon such shaky footing. At that the Cleveland's potential listening audience, according to the 1930 sensus, consisted of 45.1% of the city's population; quite an incentive for any station. 47

The early thirties found Cleveland's radio industry relatively dermant-the Depression was on in Juli strength, and the new 50 MV transmitters weren't quite in the budget. Whk dad manage to move from the Standard Building to one of the upper floors of the Terminal Tower, where she remained until 1950. Union diginoer Dalamsy in that same year, (1951), aided the theveload police Department in pottingup their first radio communications system; with went so its as to tune one of its transmitters to the molicewwaveleath and operated it for some time for the city. 40

call letters. WHAY, which had begun operation on Jan. 1, 1927, was acquired by will, and became WOLE, on 610 kes. On that day WOLE began an affiliation with the Mutual Network; WHK, new on 1420 kes., had been carrying CBC, but switchedher affiliation to NBC Blue, which WHAR had been carrying since it. Tounding, and the latter took WER's CBS coverage. When the dust had cleared the radio seems looked such the same as

⁴⁶ Courton, George, Gleveland Plain Declar, December 11, 1960,

⁴⁷ Gloveland Flain Dealer, August 13, 1931, np. 48 Gloveland Plain Dealer, March 2, 1947, np.

it had before the swap-with the exception of the factthat.

once again, in an attempt was going to be made for two
stations to have a common owner in the same city, (remember
WTAN-WEAR)-and it was to have the same results.

In March of 1938 the Cleveland Board of Education was granted permission for the construction of a high-frequency educational station, which simped on in September of What year, on a frequency of 41.5 mes, breadcasting AM short-wave. The station had been constructed through the aid of WHK endineers, and utilized a Collins 500 watt transmitter to reach its many small listeners thoughout the Granter Cleveland schools.49

The Board of Education didn't have a remopelyhou new stations that year for MAKEVES busy in its own right. In June of that year MAKEVES busy in its own right. In June of that year MAKEVES are exempled at a frequency of Jameso kes., (AM), became corrying programs of the NTC Blue and Mutual Networks, not being aimed over WER and WOLE, the normal Blue one Mutual offiliates. MAKET operated at a power of 100ments with the objective of testing a new type antenna design for high frequency AM transmission. The original ball that was situated atop the tower of the dome in the Torminal yes emprecimately 2' in discreter; investige the mounting of the antenna necessitated the replacement of

⁴⁹ Telaphore Governation with William Trielson, 5/7/63, 4:15 pm

the original ball with a new one, 3' in diameter, in which the matching networks for thenew antenna were housed. W8XNT proved to be, as we shall see, the first of many such experimental stations operated by WHK; in this case, W8XNT remained on for about three years until the outbreak of the Second World War. 50

Cleveland's importance as a radio market was evidentally becoming fast recognized, for on December 19, 1939, the Federal Communications Commissions anounced that on the first of the coming year a permanent office of the Commission would be opened in this city. 51 The Cleveland market was making stead progress. In FFebruary, 1942, Cleveland was treated to its first FM broadcasting station, when WBOE acquired an Afmstrong modulater, which was donated, and signed on as WBOE-RM with a power of 1 KW on a frequency of 42.5 mcs. 52

On September 8, 1942 Clevelandagain found a station employing two call letters, for on that day WHK-UCLE, (remember WTAM-WEAR), dropped their individual networks which they had been carrying since September, 1938, and both assumed a mutual affiliation. Station WJW, originally founded in Mansfield in 1926, and then transferred to Akron in 1932, saw an opportunity, and in 1943 moved into Cleveland on a

⁵⁰ Telephone conversation with Raigh Delancy, 5/10/63, 7:00 pm 51 Gieveland Regum, December 19, 1939, np.

⁵² op. cit., Nelson conversation.

frequency of 850 kcs., with a power of 5 kW, to assume an affiliation with the NBC Blue network. WJW signed on in Cleveland on November 17, 1945. In Akron she had occupied 1240 kcs. with a power of 250 watts, though she had only been there since 1932. In any event, once again when the dust cleared, Cleveland still had allilts major networks, which is more than can be said for it presently.

In May 17, 1944 Will announced that it was moving WCLE to Apron, where its walls assume the call letters WHKK, (sister to WHK), and the second attempt at combining two stations into one failed after a six year attempt. Plans called for the station to move in the fall of they year, and assume a new frequency, of 640 kes. (itwes then on 620 kes), with a power of 1 AW, (it was then at 500 warts).

As a result of the FOC's general confusion concerning the allocation and use of the FM broadcasting tands, WBOE, operating en 42.5 mcs., was told that it would ultimately have to move to the higher FM bands, between 88 and 108 mcs., recently assigned for such use; thus, as a preparatory step for such a change, on January of 1946 WBOE-FM moved from 4205 to 44.5 mcs, stillpater av, fandwin Farch, 1947 began broadcasting simultaenously on 90.3 mcs, at a power of 10 kW, and on 44.5, still at 1 kW. This was continued until Septem-

⁵³ Telephone conversation with Ruth Gary, 5/8/63, 3:45 pm 54 Stephon, Robert, Cloveland Plain Dealer, May 17, 1944, np.

ber, 1940, when MBCE left the air. Upon resumption of transmissions in January, 1949, MBCE operated extrusively on the new high FM band Trequency of 90.3 rcs.

Though which had the distinction of being the city's first FM station, back in 1942, she was treated in the race to the high HI bands to will's experimental station which operated on 107.1 mea, at a power of 1000 watts, and began broadcasting in hereb, 1946. This station, set up atop the Terminal Tower in an effort to test a circular polarized antenna design, was kept on the air for about one year. 56

In 1947DSamuel R. Bague applied for permission to operate Cleveland's first true surburban stations, WBRS-AM and FM, (BBS for Bagye's imitially), to be located in Cleveland Heights. WBRS-AM was liseaneddon 1490 kcs. wwith a power of 250 watts; a small discrepancy occurred in the licensing of WBRS-FM; originally assigned 107.9 mcs, theuthitately received 95.5, also on somewhatllower power than most other Cleveland stateons. (Since these stations were designed to serve surburban Cleveland they were assigned, andraeced, relatively low power transmitters.) They ultimately began broadcasting in early December, 1947. The booming Cleveland radio industry saw another new station in 1947. On June 1, WJMO, 1540 kcs. at 1000 watts, signed on from its studios and transmitters

⁵⁵ cm. cit., Nelson conversation.

⁵⁶ cn. DeLaney conversation. 57 Bacon, Elmore, Claveland News, December 4, 1947, np. 58 ihid., np.

located at 2157bEuclid Avenue.59

the signing encor which to replace WEXUS, which stopped off ea early in 1947. WHEX, whilecoperating from the Terminal, used the frequency 100.7, which while-TM later inherited. This station remained active until aid-1940, at which time whik's FM operation Termains assumed the call letters whereing the However, the Cleveland FM airwaves were far from compty.

Also in operation from November, 1947 to March, 1950 was an FM facility of the Scripps-Howard newspaper chain, WEWS-FM, (192.1 mas.), a sister station of WEWS-FV, the first commercial television station in Cleveland. White-TV, the first commercial television station in Cleveland. White-TV, while in 1948 on a frequency of 104.1 mes., with a powerful 20 KM transmitter, while WTAM-FM began broadcasting in October, 1948, on a frequency of 109.0 mes.

The appearancecof WHHE-AM and FM upon the Cloveland radio appears somewhat clouded; several conflicting reports make a definite identification by date difficult. According to Robert Hiller, general manager of WHRE, (owned by Ray T. Miller of Cleveland Broadcasting Company), WHEE-FM began operations on a frequency of \$8.8 mcs. On November, 1947.

⁵⁰ Cleveland Flain Dealer, August 21, 1952, np.

⁶⁰ on. cit., Ralph Delaney conversation.

⁶¹ ibid.,
62 Telephone conversation with Joseph Epperson, 5/7/63,
11:15 am.

and WERV-BM in July, 1948. 63 Other sources credit the FM sign on as late 1948, 64 and the AM as being in July, 119499 65. The reader may believe any date he chooses.

The P' newlest continued to grow, with the remearance of WLAL-FM. which signed on May 14, 194966 at a frequency of 104.9 mes. at a power of 1 WW. This station, which promoted in Labrarond, had a mather dispri life. for the TM maritat at than time, wasnifether nuccertiouslyy financially, and a suburban atation, on all folly, aimpley couldn't make and most. Thug, lain in 1049, will-will general hypodesyting. 67 Another ill-fated operation was that of WONG-TY, which simple on on June 1. 1919, at 195.3 Med. With a deligh office of 15 EW: proped by the United Auto Mortons, it was the uniquite intention to store a "vokee of lawer" string in Cleveland. Bimilar to their according in Dotroit. Withthheir studios located at 1925 Chaster, andthough temporation in Hory Royalton, 69 the MAY found outrolativaly early that the Claveland market couldn't apport a that a set thatra. Thus in mid-1951 MONO-THE Both thomas the Ego for normisator to cense traccrni sulovu 70

64 Bacon, Elmore, Cleveland News, August 50, 1948, np.

⁶³ Telaphone convergation with Papers Miller, 5/6/63, 3:45pm.

⁶⁵ Cleveland Plain Dealer, July 11, 1949, np. 66 Stephen, Robert, Bleveland Plain Dealer, May 15, 1948,

⁶⁷ Course Charge Clareland Plain Dealer, May 15, 1948,

⁶⁷ Condon, George, Cleveland Plain Dealer, November 30, 1949,

⁶⁸ Croveland News, March 24, 1949, np.

⁶⁹ Condon, George, Cleveland Plain Dealer, June 30 , 1949,

⁷⁰ Porter, Philip, Glevelend Plein Dealer, June 14, 1951, np.

The situation on the AK scene looked condiderably brighter interest; on Hantary 19, 1979 the PCD granued approval of a new station, icospec at 1200 hose, with a coner of 5 MM, to Free well of divide proaccasters. The work, as the station was soon to be called, signed on the air on April 30, 1990. The analysis a new type of programming to develond. Not only the firster, organize a centential built around good music of thepopular variety, he included classical music, daily-softening which the dievoland market main's soon in many years. Suite nappley, and to the surprise of some,

remain of, total and an ever-expanding will never into new million-deliar studies at pool additurner, they had escapied the remaining force there told, one had neverthere from the admidist collision. The architect calling. The architect procedure the evision procedure the wall had received the cate in all to television procedure, but to-turned in the first television afterness, but to-turned in the first television afterness. That they proved to be some of the finest rando abundos in the nation, remaps the most interpolating aspect of the move was that when it began on Heren p. 1922, was located

⁷² Condon, George, Eleveland Plain Dealer, November 18, 1961,

⁷³ Condon, George, Cleveland Plain Dealer, January 14, 1951,

⁷⁴ Telephone conversation with NEddie Clark, 5/6/63, 11:00 am.

at 5105 Euclid, exactly across the street from the new location.

1952 saw the entrance of another broadcaster to the FM ranks, for in Julyoof that year, WGAR-FM signed on on a frequency of 99.5 mes.

With the recent failure of two FM broadcasters, WOUC and which, an instrepted FMed Wolf, of the new WDOK-AM, on August 20, 1952 applied for permissiontto construct WDOK-FM, which was granted a frequency of 102.1 mcs., and a power cutput of 20 kW; on October 4, 1954 the newest member of the slive FM broadcastaing club joined the airwaves of the city's other seven FM broadcastars, for what proved to be a very successfully operation. To

Mroadcasting Cleveland received its greatest shack in many years in 1955, when WTAM, pioner broadcaster in this area, and one of the nation;s formost operators, announced its acquisition by the Westinghouse Broadcasting Company on December 29 of that year. Shottly thereafter, WTAM left the city and the new Westinghouse property, still on 1000 kcs., became KMM, a set of call letters made popular in Philadelphia, where they were first used in 1923. On July 43, 1936 KYW announced tat as of August 26, it would drop its affiliations with NEC; again this precipitated a flurry

⁷⁵ Broadcasting \$960 Yearbook, Washington, D.C., p. A206.

of activity which ultimately resulted in WHK taking the NBC affiliation on December 9, 1956, and MSRS assuming WHK's former Mutual affiliation on September 30, 1956. The Network radio was still in serionsstrouble in Cleveland, however; December 28, 1957 saw WJW-AM and FM drop their ABC affiliation, held since the station moved to Cleveland in the Blue Het-and the status of network radio began to look evenshakier.

FM, now continually expanding, saw a new arrival on March 2, 1958 when WBWC-FM, the Cleveland area's only collegiate broadcaster, on the airwaves, (several colleges own closed-circut "Campus Carrier" networks-rut none utilized standard transmission on the airwaves) sign on on 88.3 mcs., with a power output of 10 watts. This educational station, owned andoerated by Baldwing-Wallace College and the student body in Berea, Ohio, 15 miles from Public Sugare, serves a listening audience covering most of the Rest Side-soon to be expanded to anclude the entire county.

On December 19, 1958 Cleveland's radio markets suddenly found one of themmost complex transactions that the industry had seen in years in the works. The oners of WJMO sold theer property, and acquired simultaneously WSRS-AM and FM, changing the old SRS sall to JHEO, but operating on the old SRS

⁷⁶ Cleveland Plain Dealer, September 21, 1956, np.

frequency of 1490, starting in Januaryoof 1959, with the new JMO at a power of 1 KW. (the 1490 what had reviously been 250 watts). 77 THRS-INfthunged its call letters to WCUY. still on 95.3 mcs., and operated as an entirely independent. station, with separate programming. This left, the 1540 kcs. spot unfilled, until March 13, 1959 when the new WARQ signed on, ontthe old JMO frequency.78

On the FM scene things were equally busy. December 7. 1958 saw the entrance of a new brodcaster on 103.3: WCRF-FM, owned andoerated by the Moodly Bible Institute began broadcasting on that day, with an entirely religious programming. the first station of its type in Cheveland's history. 79 On July 14, 1959 WNOB-FM, 107.9 mcs., signed on as Gleveland's newest, and then ation's most powerful. broadcaster. a transmitter delivering 135 KW, and a highly complex antenna system utilizing 12 separate bays, things looked encouraged for the new property of the Northern Obdoseroadcasting Company. (NOB): unforture tely, thenew station was playing by technical difficulties. The monstrous transmitten was almost insudible in many parts of Cleveland and recention in Toldeo was excellent; similarly, the station was obliterathms the sigual of a 1 XW station Idocated about 15 miles cutside of Indianapolis) in homes located not more than a mile

Claveland Warn, Decambon 19, 1958, no/

Cloveland Plain Detlor, December 8, 1958, np.

from the smaller station. The ingineers traced the difficulty to asphasing problem in the 12 gay anterne, which was
shooting its signal above, and over, the veland. Ultimately,
after many unsuccessful efforts at eliminating the problem,
the decision was made to chilize only ten units of the
antenna, which solved the situation, but also cut the station's
power to 118 mm, (nothing to be assessed of 1).

The new MABQ signed on a sister station in the FM bands on May 5, 1000, on a frequency of 106.5 mcs, which maintained these call letters for a few months, and soon vecame wXEN-FM the city's only nationalities station, will on the same frequency.

profitable one-and listeners found it difficultionkeep abreast of all the new developments on the "staticpiree" bands. WDGD-FF was thenext to sign on, on the pril 1, 1961, with a 40 KW transmitter on 95.5 mes. Originally scheduled to commence broadcasting about a month earlier, it was forced to wait untilignout moved its frequency to 92.5 to make room for the newer station. Billed as "Clevelands Fine Arts madio", and programming chairely classical music, the station changed hands several times.

Back on the wore standard As broadcast pands, the network

⁸⁰ Tolerable conversation with Richard D. Webner, 5/7/63,

^{61 1.16.} 82 Tekephone convergations with Pobert Conwad, 5/6/63, 6:30pm.

affiliations in Cleveland again rotated. WHK dropped its NBC affiliation in 1959m and essumed a calcined lutual-ABC coverage, which gave way to hetro-Hadia shorth. Therafter, when the station changed hands. WJMO obliged by accepting ABC, and WDOK linked fisself with Mutual-far cry from the therties when stations clammored for an affiliation. WJW assumed NBC on August 1, 1961, having been independent since it dropped its ABC affiliationlate in 1957, taking over the KHK affiliation. This association proved to be short—lived, however, for the networkleft WJW on December 21, of that same year, that station thengoing independent. Now without an affiliate, NBC began searching, and finally persuaded WGAR, long a bastion of CBS, to assume the NBC coverage, which it did on Eartl 30, 1963.

On the FM aireaves, WDG6 changed hands for the third time in mid-1962, and on November 5, 1962 assumed the call letters WCLV-TM, still on 95.5.

To round out our listingoof Cleveland's radio operations let me briefly mention two other stations, though not of the commercial variety. One, WCY, opened October 1, 1926 at West 117th and Madison, operated by RCA, with a power of 750 watts. It served as a marine communications station, and on

⁸³ op. cit., Ruth Gary conversation.

⁶⁴ Tolks hone conversation with Briskes Pailey, 5/7/63. 4:30pm.

⁸⁵ op. c.4t., Robert Conrad conversation.

January 7, 1929 moved to Bradley Road, Dover, between Detroit and Lorain, with a power of 5 KW, operating there for several years before disconstanting operations. 36 Institute breakenster was W.A. an expectation of WHK's used for facsimile transmissions, whicheopened in the late thirties, as a power of 100 watte in the UNF band, (between 30 and 40 mes.). Co

Thus we have a chronology of Cleveland's radio development from the first primitive programs of WSACS all the way through the city's newest FM call, SCLV. Padio has gone though tremendous changes in the 42 years recapitulated here; thedays of the networks have faded, as have the days of radio as a sole source of entertainment; nevertheless, the industry continues, particularly in the field of FM, ever-expanding and increving, for what appears to be enight future.

7: Sav ait., Malph Delaney conversation.

2. 11

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Books and Magazines-

- Rose, William G., Cleveland, the Making of a City, World Publishing Company, Cleveland, Ohio, 1950.
- Broadcasting 1960 Yearbook, (Market Book Issue), Broadcasting Publications, Inc., Washington, D.C., Issue #53.

Newspapers-

- 3 Cleveland Plain Dealer, January 1, 1950.
- 4 Cleveland Flain Dealer, October 10, 1926.
- 5 Cleveland Plain Dealer, March 3, 1957.
- 6 Cleveland Plain Dealer, February 10, 1951.
- 7 Cleveland Press. February 10, 1938.
- 8 Condon, George, Cleveland Plain Dealer, October 21, 1951.
- 9 Cleveland Plain Dealer. April 4. 1926.
- 10 Cleveland Plain Dealer, Decembee 8, 1926.
- 11 Kintner, Robert, Claveland Plain Dealer, January 27, 1928.
- 12 Cleveland Plain Dealer, December 11, 1926.
- 13 Cleveland Plain Dealer, September 2, 1927.
- 14 Gleveland Plain Dealer, April 26, 1927.
- 15 Kintner, Robert, Gleveland Plain Dealer, November 12, 1928.
- 16 Claveland Plain Dealer, May 29, 1927.

- 17 Klatner, Robert, Cleveland Plain Dealer, December 12, 9927.
- 18 Kintner, Robert, Cleveland Plain Dealer, December 15, 1927.
- 19 Kintner, Robert, Cleveland Plain Dealer, May 30, 1928.
- 20 Kintner, Robert, Cleveland Plain Dealer, September 2, 1928.
- 21 Kintner, Robert, Claveland Plain Dealer, October 13, 1928.
- 22 Kintner, Robert, Cleveland Plain Dealer, February 2, 1929.
- 23 Kintner, Robert, Gleveland Plain Dealer, MArch 9, 1929.
- 24 Cteveland Plain Dealer, April 24, 1929.
- 25 Cleveland Plain Dealer, April 26, 1929.
- 26 Kintner, Robert, Cleveland Plain Dealer, April 28, 1929.
- 27 Cleveland Press, July 7, 1929.
- 28 Kintner, Robert, Cleveland Plain Dealer, October 6, 1929.
- 29 Claveland Plain Dealer, November 7, 1929.
- 30. Kintmer, Robert, Cleveland Plain Dealer, October 13, 1929.
- 31 Cook, Afthur, Cleveland Press, November 7, 1929.
- 32 Cleveland Plain Dealer, September 26, 1930.
- 33 Condon, George, <u>Disveland Plain Dealer</u>, December 11, 1960.
- 34 Condon, George, Claveland Plain Dealer, December 10, 1955.
- 35 Claveland Plain Dealer, August 13, 1931.
- 36 Clemeland Plain Dealer, March 2, 1947.
- 37 Randall, Edwin T., Cleveland Plain Dealer, September 19, 1937.

- 38 Stephen, Robert S., Cleveland Plain Dealer, September 1937.
- 39 Stephen, Robert S., Cleveland Plain Dealer, July 2, 1938.
- 40 Cleveland Plain Dealer. December 31, 1938.
- 41 Rleveland Press, December 19, 1939.
- 42 Stephen, Robert S., Wleveland Plain Dealer, September 12, 1941.
- 43 Stephen, Robert S., Claveland Plain Dealer, September 9, 1942.
- 44 Small, Jack., Cleveland Press. March 24, 1943.
- 45 Barmann, George, Glaveland Phain Dealer, October 23, 1945.
- 46 Stephen, Robert S., Gleveland Plain Dealar, March 2, 1947.
- 47 Helman, Edwin, Cleveland Press, August 4, 1948.
- 48. Stephen, Robert S., Cleveland Plain Dealer, March 31, 1946.
- 49 Stephen, Robert S., Cleveland PlainXDealer, December 17, 1946.
- 50 Stephen, Robert S., Cleveland Plain Realer, June 2, 1947.
- 51 Cleveland Plain Dealer, August 21, 1952.
- 52 Claveland Plain Dealer, September 10, 1948.
- 53 Cleveland Plain Dealer, October 8, 1954.
- 54 Claveland Plain Dealer, June 23, 1943.
- 55 Cleveland Plain Dealer, December 13, 1947.
- 56 Gleveland Press. January 10, 1947.
- 57 Bacon, Elmore, Claveland News, December 4, 1987.
- 58= Claveland Plain Dealer, June 11, 1949.
- 59 Stephen, Robert S., <u>Claveland Plain Dealer</u>, December 7, 1947.

- 60 Bacon, Elmore, Cleveland News, August 39, 1948.
- 61 Claveland Plain Dealer, March 19, 1950.
- 62 Stephen, Robert S., Cleveland Plain Dealer, May 15, 1948.
- 63 Condon, George, Glaveland Plain Dealer, November 39, 1949.
- 64 64 <u>Cleveland News</u>, March 24, 1949.
- 65 Condon, George, Cleveland Plain Dealer, June 16, 1949.
- 66 Condon, George, Cleveland Flain Dealer, June 30, 1949.
- 67 Porter, Philip. Cleveland Plain Dealer, June 14, 1951.
- 68 Claveland Plain Dealer, January 19, 1949.
- 69 Cleveland Plain Dealer, January 14, 1951.
- 70 Condon, George, Carmarand OPlatin Dealer, January 10, 1951.
- 71 Condon, George, Cleveland Plain Dealer, March 9, 1950.
- 72 Condon, George, Cheveland Plain Dealer, January 6, 1950.
- 73 Condon, George, Gleveland Plain Dealer, November 18, 1961.
- 74 Condon, George, Claveland Plain Dealer, August 20, 1952.
- 75 Condop, George, Gleveland Plain Dealer, December 29, 1955.
- 76 Condon, George, Cleveland Plain Dealer, July 14, 9956.
- 77 Cleveland Plain Dealer, September 21, 1956.
- 78 Cleveland Plain Dealer, July 31, 1958.
- 79 Condon, George, <u>Aleveland</u> Plain Dealer, December 9, 1956.
- 80 Cleveland News, December 17, 1958.
- 81 Cleveland Plain Dealer, December 8, 1958.
- 82 Gleveland Pretts, March 13, 1959.
- 83 Gleveland Plain Dealer, July 12, 1959.
- 84 Kane, Russel, Gleveland Plain Dealer, December 21, 1961.

- 85 Cleveland Timos, October 2, 1926.
- 86 Cleveland Plain Dealer, January 7, 1929.
- 87 Van Metre, Maurice, Cleveland News, March 4, 1957.
- 88 Cleveland Plain Dealer, June 12, 1949.

Telephone Conversations-

- 89 Charty, HARRY, KYW engineer, 5/7/63, 3:30 pm.
- 90 Clarke, Eddie, WHK public relations, 5/6/63, 11:00 am.
- 91 Conrad, Robert, WCLV owner, 5/6/63, 6:30 pm.
- 92 Courtney, WJMO grantal manager, 5/8/63, 2:30 pm.
- 93 DeLaney, Ralph, former Chief Engineer, WHK, 5/10/63, 7:00 pm.
- 94 Demming, Lawson, Edward program director WTAM, 5/7/63, 10:30 am.
- 95 Epperson, Joseph, Chief Engineer WEWS, 5/7/63, 11:15 am.
- 96 Gary, Ruth, WJW public relations, 5/8/63, 3:45 pm.
- 97 George, Carl, WGAR manager, 5/7/63, 4:30 pm.
- 98 Jerome, Jerry, KYW engineer, 5/7/63, 3:40 pm.
- 99 Knowlton, William, former manager, WJAX, 5/7/63, 1:45 pm.
- 100 Miller, Robert, WERE general manager, 5/6/63, 3:45 pm.
- 101 Nolson, William, WBOE ongineer, 5/7/63, 4:13 pm.
- 102 Peters, Harriet, Cleveland Press Radio-TV Dept., 5/7/63, 10:45 am.
- 103 Smiley, Robert, program director WGAR, 5/7/63, 10115 am.
- 104 Spiller, Howard, KYW engineer, 5/7/63, 3:45 pm.
- 105 Webner, Richard D., Ohio Bell plant training operations instructor, 5/7/63 10:00 pm.
- 106 ibid., 5/10/63, 9:30 pm.
- 107 1bid., 5/8/63, 10:00 pm.